IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-TS-01655

EDNA BLANCHARD DAVIDSON, ET AL.

APPELLANTS

VS.

TARPON WHITETAIL GAS STORAGE, LLC.

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, CIRCUIT COURT OF MONROE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, HONORABLE JAMES S. POUNDS

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial judge violated the procedural safeguards of Miss. Code Ann. 11-27-83 by failing to require the filing of a *lis pendens* notice, failing to appoint an independent appraiser, and failing to allow the landowner to withdraw 85 percent of the independent appraiser's valuation.
- Whether the trial judge erred in allowing the appellee corporation to use a Statement of Values that fails to meet the statutory requirements of Miss. Code Ann. 11-27-7 and 11-27-83.
- 3. Whether the trial judge erred in denying Appellant landowners' counsel from continuing the case due to health issues.
- 4. Whether the trial judge erred in allowing Condemnor to proceed with condemnation rights in the trial that differed from stated rights in the party's pleadings.
- * 5. Whether the trial judge erred in allowing Condemnor's expert to testify.
- 6. Whether the trial judge erred in denying Appellant landowners' Statement of Values for being untimely filed and pro se landowners' Statement of Values, which was timely filed.
- 3 7. Whether the trial judge erred in denying Appellant landowners in an eminent domain case from testifying about the value of their property.
- #\ 8. Whether the trial judge erred in denying Appellants' motion for a jury view.
- #3 9. Whether the trial judge erred in denying testimony regarding compensation and fair market value.
 - 10. Whether the trial judge erred in overturning the jury verdict.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Since the 1800s, the Blanchard family has owned the Blanchard family tract with four homes and a family cemetery on its twenty-five acres. (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 108).

On December 6, 2007, Tarpon Whitetail Gas Storage, LLC (Condemnor) and twenty three heirs of the Blanchard family negotiated regarding the purchase of the Blanchard estate in Monroe County, Mississippi. These negotiations did not result in a sale.

On June 29, 2009, Tarpon filed Civil Action CV2009-308-GM, a Complaint for Eminent Domain of gas storage rights against all parties with claims to the Blanchard estate.

On August 19, 2009, the Special Court of Eminent Domain, Monroe County, Mississippi held a hearing seeking the Court's approval to condemn the gas storage rights as approved by the Federal Energy Regulatory Comm'n and the Mississippi State Oil and Gas Board, and injunctive relief to immediately begin injecting gas into the storage zone under the Blanchard estate.

On August 30, 2010, the Special Court of Eminent Domain, Monroe County, Mississippi held a jury trial to determine the value of the Blanchard estate. Honorable J. Joshua Stevens, Jr., Appellants' attorney at the time, made a motion to continue the case due to his health issues, including colon cancer that metastasized into his liver and both lungs, his current chemotherapy sessions, his debilitating headaches, and his heavily medicated state. The motion to continue was denied. Mr. Stevens made a motion for the lay witness landowners to testify about the value of their property. The motion for lay witness testimony was denied and could not be admitted into evidence. *Pro se* defendants filed a timely Statement of Values to testify about the value of their property, but the judge also denied their motion and ruled that it could not be admitted into evidence. Mr. Stevens made a motion for an inspection of the premises, which was denied. (Trial 162).

The only testimony regarding the value of the Blanchard estate came from Alan Cook, the manager of land resources for Condemnor, Michael Dean, Petroleum Engineer retained by Condemnor to testify, and Stephen Holcombe, Real Estate Appraiser for Appraisal Services, hired by Condemnor. The result was a verdict for \$13,000.00 to be split among 23 people.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in requiring Condemnor's pre-trial compliance as required by Miss. Code Ann. 11-27-83, most notably, by failing to appoint an independent appraiser. During the trial, the trial judge erred in allowing Condemnor to seek greater condemnation rights than were set out in the pleadings (Ex. 3: Condemnor's Complaint, p. 3, n. 5). The trial judge erred in allowing Condemnor's expert to testify, and in allowing their deficient Statement of Values. The trial judge erred in denying Appellant landowners' Statement of Values, and in denying *pro se* landowners' Statement of Values. The trial judge erred in denying Appellant landowners in an eminent domain case from testifying about the value of their property. The trial judge erred in denying Appellant landowners' counsel from continuing the case due to health issues. The trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion for a jury view. The trial judge erred in denying testimony regarding compensation and fair market value. The trial judge erred in overturning the jury verdict.

These errors resulted in the judge's abuse of discretion, and as such, this Honorable Court should dismiss the proceedings. In the alternative, this Court should remand the proceedings to allow Appellant landowners to present landowner testimony and expert appraisal testimony regarding compensation and fair market value, thus allowing Appellants tor receive just compensation for the condemnation of the Blanchard family tract.

ARGUMENT

The purpose of an eminent domain proceeding is to determine the fair market value of the property at issue.

The standard of review of eminent domain proceedings is de novo for questions of law, and findings of fact will be overturned where they are supported by substantial evidence in the record unless there was abuse of discretion by the trial judge or the findings were manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. Morley v. Jackson Redevelopment Auth., 874 So.2d 973, 975(¶ 11) (Miss.2004).

I. The trial judge violated the procedural safeguards of Miss. Code Ann. 11-27-83 by failing to require the filing of a *lis pendens* notice, failing to appoint an independent appraiser, and failing to allow the landowner to withdraw 85 percent of the independent appraiser's valuation.

The Mississippi Code states as follows:

The court, or the judge thereof in vacation, as soon as practicable after being satisfied that service of process has been obtained, shall appoint a disinterested, knowledgeable person qualified to make an appraisal of the property described in the complaint to act as appraiser. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-83 (2011).

The trial judge erred in the following respects with regard to the requirements of this statute. The trial judge allowed the Condemnor to proceed without a *lis pendens* notice. The Mississippi Code states that immediately after filing the complaint, the Plaintiff shall also file a *lis pendens* notice with the chancery clerk. Miss. Code Ann. §§ 11-27-7, 11-47-1 et seq.

Appellant landowners' counsel stated, "Let's talk about some deficiencies. This complaint, under 11-27-33, it says that – the statute says that the Plaintiff shall file a *lis pendens*. Where is it? I mean, we haven't seen it if it's been filed." (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 66, lines 20-26).

The trial judge failed to appoint an independent appraiser. As soon as process of the Complaint has been served, the Court should appoint an independent appraiser who shall appraise the property proposed for taking and return a report on valuation within ten days. Miss. Code Ann. 11-21-87.

Appellant landowners' counsel stated, "If you are going to take property, like was done here, under the quick take, or under the statute that permits it, 11-27-7 or 11-27-83, [there] has to be an independent appraiser appointed by the court. Here they just came in and said we want it, and we want you – if you remember the discussion, I asked for a hundred thousand dollar bond, they asked for a \$25,000 bond, and the Court set a \$25,000 bond." (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 67, lines 1-6).

Appellant landowners' counsel stated further, "We don't have the money to hire experts, when somebody has a one two-hundredths interested. I mean, how are we going to get an expert on a practical basis here? We can't testify ourself (sic). We don't have the money. It doesn't make sense to, perhaps for any one of these people to put up the money for an expert. The Court was supposed to appoint one. Read the statute. ... It would give everybody an idea of what we were dealing with here and help us, and that was taxed as court cost, which the Plaintiff would end up paying. An independent. Not Mr. Holcombe. As fine a qualified appraiser as he is, he is not independent. The Court was supposed to do that, is the way we see it." (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 67, lines 7-25).

The trial judge failed to allow the landowner to withdraw 85 percent of the independent appraiser's valuation, which would have provided the funds to prepare a more aggressive defense. Upon entry of an order of immediate possession, the condemning authority shall pay 85 percent of the independent appraiser's valuation into the registry of the court, which the landowner is entitled to withdraw. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-89. The condemning authority is required to pay interest at

the rate of 8 percent per annum from the date of filing of an eminent domain complaint until payment on any excess a landowner may be awarded over the quick-take deposit. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-87. If the landowner receives less than the 85 percent deposit, the condemning authority is entitled to a personal judgment against the landowner for the difference. Id.

Appellant landowners' counsel stated, "[w]e take exception and realize the Court doesn't have the full information from expert testimony about the value." (Ex1: Quick Take hearing, p. 8, lines 22-25). The judge ordered that a \$25,000 bond would be sufficient, and failed to appoint an appraiser. (Ex1: Quick Take hearing, p. 10, lines 23-5). The \$25,000 bond amount was selected with no reference to an appraiser, or with the amount being 85% of the appraiser's amount.

II. The trial judge erred in allowing the appellee corporation to use a Statement of Values that fails to meet the statutory requirements of Miss. Code Ann. 11-27-7 and 11-27-83.

The Mississippi Code further states as follows:

The appraiser, after viewing the property, shall return to the clerk of court within ten (10) days after his appointment, his report in triplicate, under oath, which report shall state: (1) the fair market value of the property to be condemned, determined as of the date of the filing of the complaint; (2) the damages, if any, to the remainder if less than the whole is taken, giving a total compensation and damages to be due as determined by the appraiser; and (3) his opinion as to the highest and best use of the property, and a narrative of the facts pertaining to his appraisal. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-83 (2011).

In reference to Condemnor's failure to meet these requirements, Appellant landowners' counsel stated, "[Condemnor] can file a Statement of Values, but it's supposed to be the before and after test. Mr. Holcomb's – the Statement of Values, read it. It doesn't do it. It doesn't do what they are required. ... It doesn't talk about what the surfaces, high and best use. That's supposed to be there, too. It doesn't talk about the fair market value of the property to be condemned, determined as of the date of the filing, or the damages, or the before and after [test], which is what it's supposed to

do. ... The damages to the remainder. Ignore it. (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 67, lines 28-9; p. 68, lines 1-17, 28-29). (See Ex. 2: Condemnor's Statement of Values)

In addition, the judge denied the landowner's motion for a more definite statement under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 12(e) of what Plaintiff seeks to condemn. *See, e.g.*, Mississippi Power Co. v. Leggett, See e.g., Mississippi Power Co. v. Leggett, 197 So. 2d 475, 479 (Miss. 1967) (plaintiff must fully define the number, kind and location of trees to be condemned, referenced in petition only as danger trees).

Appellant landowners' counsel stated, "[the Statement of Values] is supposed to be exactly what we are taking. They are still standing up here and telling all they are taking is rights underground. Read the pleading. Read the complaint. Their motion to do it. Here is what we are taking, this underground strata, which they certainly do say, and told the jury, and the *incidental right of surface and subsurface ingress, use and egress as reasonably necessary to construct, operate and maintain the property.* Now, what does that mean? To me, it's nebulous. Does it give them the right to go drill a test well on there...? Even though they had no intention of building any compressor station on them at this time, they have the right to go on these properties and take it, and yet they put nothing on there. You can't take something away – and even in voir dire he's telling them that all we are taking is something way down three hundred feet under the ground. Read what the pleadings say. Read Mr. Holcombe's report of what he is saying they are taking. Whether he puts any value on it or not, they are certainly taking it." (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 69, lines 1-27) (Statement refers to Ex. 4: Condemnor's Complaint, p. 3, n. 5).

The Court stated, "I find the Statement of Values filed by the Plaintiff in this case to be proper." (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 88, lines 1-4). The trial judge erred by admitted this Statement of Values, which fails to meet the statutory requirements of Miss. Code Ann. 11-27-7 and 11-27-83.

III. The trial judge erred in denying Appellant landowners' counsel from continuing the case due to health issues.

Appellant landowner's counsel renewed his motion for a request for a continuance. (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 59, lines 7-19). As grounds for such, counsel stated that he had recently undergone a PET scan (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 60, lines 16-25), suffered from colon cancer, which had metastasized into his liver and both lungs (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 60, lines 25-29), was undergoing intensive chemotherapy (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 61, lines 4-20), and had an MRI showing debilitating headaches (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 61, lines 21-29; p. 62, lines 1-9; Trial, p. 63, lines 9-29; Exhibit 1, motion for continuance, Exhibit 2, MRI results of Appellant Landowner's counsel.)

Further stating, "My clients didn't do anything wrong. They're not – they shouldn't be sanctioned, and the most draconian sanction you can put on anybody is just to throw out the proof. ... I take the responsibility for my failures of my office staff to respond to this. I have given the best reasons I can in the Motion for a Continuance, but if the case is tried today, and the Court goes forward, then I think the Court is making a serious error, with all due respect, if it doesn't permit all of these landowners that want to get up there and express an opinion of what it's worth." (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 74, lines 18-29; p. 75, lines 1-2). This motion was denied by the court (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 87, line 3). The trial judge erred when he denied Appellant landowners' counsel's motion for a continuance, thus denying their right to enjoy a fair trial.

IV. The trial judge erred in allowing Condemnor to proceed with condemnation rights in the trial that differed from stated rights in the party's pleadings.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 12(e) states that a defendant may move for a more definite statement under of what the plaintiff seeks to condemn. See e.g., Mississippi Power Co. v.

Leggett, 197 So. 2d 475, 479 (Miss. 1967) (plaintiff must fully define the number, kind and location of trees to be condemned, referenced in petition only as danger trees).

j

Appellants objected to the ingress and egress rights as stated in the pleadings, which differed from the testimony of Tarpon's witnesses at trial. Counsel for Condemnor stated,"[w]hat we're talking about, again, is not their surface, not where they may live, but a strata of sand, which we call a gas storage interval or a reservoir, that is from 3400 to 3600 feet below ground and is under these individuals' properties. ... [Condemnor] will not be taking the surface." (Ex1: Quick Take hearing, p. 5, lines 19-28).

Appellant landowners' stated, "I object to that. The taking specifically says they are not taking all the surface. They are taking the right to ingress and egress, to go into the property on the surface and the subsurface under our property. ... They can't get up here on the witness stand and say it's something else from what they are saying the pleadings they are taking." (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 186, lines 14-24). The Court stated that the objection was overruled. (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 186, line 25).

IV. The trial judge erred in allowing Condemnor's expert to testify.

The Supreme Court recognizes three different appraisal methods which may be used to value property in the context of an eminent domain proceeding: the cost approach, the market data or sales comparison approach, and the income approach. Potters II v. State Highway Comm'n of Miss., 608 So.2d 1227, 1231 (Miss.1992).

Mr. Holcombe relied on the income approach in this case. (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 202, lines 1-7). Using this approach, he determined that just compensation for the subsurface gas storage rights and for the taking of the Blanchard family tract was \$6,250.00. (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 208, line 28-9; p. 209,

line 1-2). Appellant landowner's counsel objected to the basis of the expert upon Ohio law, which was overruled by the court. (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 110, lines 22-29; p. 111, lines 1-7).

Mr. Holcombe also provided comparable sales evidence. While comparable sales are an accepted and established appraisal practice to rely on, they provide little assistance for the jury to rely on when comparing a unique structure such as a reservoir.

Mr. Holcombe further agreed in his testimony that the highway frontage was suitable for home use, and that the highest and best use for this particular property would be greater for home use than it would be for agricultural use. (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 214, lines 25-9; p. 215, lines 1-15).

Mr. Holcombe testified that he relied on Ohio procedure and Ohio case law that had been provided to him by Condemnor's attorney. (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 221, lines 20-23).

Based on Condemnor's use of Ohio law, his failure to inspect the surface, his use of improper comparable sales, the trial judge erred in admitting this testimony.

VI. The trial judge erred in denying Appellant landowners' Statement of Values for being untimely filed and *pro se* landowners' Statement of Values, which was timely filed.

Not less than ten days prior to trial, the defendants shall file and serve on plaintiff their Statement of Values setting forth the same information. "The statements required by this section shall constitute the pleadings of the parties with respect to the issue of value, and shall be treated as pleadings are treated in civil actions in the circuit court. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-7; Hudspeth v. State Highway Comm'n of Mississippi, 534 So. 2d 210, 215 (Miss. 1988). The judge may increase or decrease the time for filing statements of value for good cause shown. Mississippi State Highway Comm'n v. Blackwell, 350 So. 2d 1325, 1329 (Miss. 1977); Mississippi State Highway Comm'n v. Arndt, 304 So. 2d Amos, 319 So. 2d 231, 233 (Miss. 1975); Mississippi State Highway Comm'n v. Arndt, 304 So. 2d

281, 282 (Miss. 1974).

The failure of the landowner to file a Statement of Values does not entitle the plaintiff to have judgment based on its Statement of Values. The condemning authority still must present evidence to the jury "by way of a writ of inquiry" to allow determination of "due compensation" consistent with the requirements of section 17 of the Mississippi Constitution. Coleman v. Mississippi State Highway Comm'n, 289 So. 2d 918, 920 (Miss. 1974).

Appellant landowners' counsel stated, "The Statement of Values is considered a pleading. It can be amended, changed, added to at any time. That's the only pleadings required here." (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 65, lines 3-8) (Statement refers to Ex. 5: Defendant's Statement of Values). The court noted that the Statement of Values for Appellants was filed eight days before trial. (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 65, lines 9-19). However, the *pro se* landowners filed their Statement of Values more than ten days prior to the trial. (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 65, lines 20-21) (Ex. 6: The Walkers Statement of Values).

The trial judge erred when he denied Appellant landowners and *pro se* landowners from submitted their Statement of Values. The Court stated, "I find the Statement of Values filed by the Plaintiff in this case to be proper and yours to be untimely, filed on Friday, three days ago." (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 88, lines 1-4). Appellant landowners' counsel stated, "Does that apply to the other defendants, too, who did file one timely?" The Court responded, "That's correct." (Ex. 1: Trial, p. 88, line 18).

VII. The trial judge erred in denying Appellant landowners in an eminent domain case from testifying about the value of their property.

It is settled in eminent domain practice that a landowner may give his or her opinion of the fair market value of the property. This does not, however, mean the landowner can get on the witness stand and say anything he or she wants. Properly understood, the rule exempts the landowner from showing that he or she possesses the qualifications necessary in law to be accepted as an expert witness. See M.R.E. Rule 702.

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