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

Rule 37 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure expressly provides the court great latitude in imposing sanctions for discovery abuse. Specifically, Rule 37(b)(2)(B) provides, in relevant part: "If a party ... fails to obey an order to provide or permit discovery, ... the court in which the action is pending may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just, and among others the following: ... an order refusing to allow the disobedient party to support or oppose designated claims or defenses, or prohibiting him from introducing designated matters in evidence."

1081187-2 26

Because the Blanchards did not comply with the trial court's orders and did not respond to Tarpon's discovery requests, Tarpon had no indication of what evidence the Blanchards may present, and its ability to prepare its case was severely prejudiced. Tarpon had no opportunity to prepare to meet or cross-examine any evidence the Blanchards may have offered. Accordingly, any such testimony or evidence was properly excluded. State Hwy. Comm'n of Miss. v. Jones, 649 So. 2d 201, (Miss. 1995) (in condemnation action, trial court committed reversible error by allowing Landowners to admit into evidence photographs without having first revealed photographs to State pursuant to request for discovery and subsequent court order compelling production of, inter alia, all photographs and pictorial representations Landowners planned to introduce at trial.); State Highway Com'n of Mississippi v. Havard, 508 So.2d 1099 (Miss. 1987) (failure to comply with request for discovery and subsequent court order compelling discovery production is grounds for exclusion of evidence at trial); Ladner v. Ladner, 436 So. 2d 1366, 1370 (Miss. 1983) ("If a party fails to obey a court order permitting discovery, the court may, in its discretion, refuse to allow the disobedient party to support her claims with the undisclosed evidence."); Prestridge v. City of Petal, 841 So. 2d 1048 (Miss. 2003) (same); Broadhead v. Bonita Lakes Mall, Ltd. Partnership, 702 So. 2d 92, 104 (Miss. 1997) (Chancellor did not abuse discretion by excluding evidence where Plaintiff failed to comply with Defendant's discovery requests and subsequent order compelling discovery).

In addition, pursuant to the trial court's Scheduling Order, the Blanchards' deadline for designating expert witnesses was May 5, 2010, and the deadline to complete discovery was July 30, 2010. The Blanchards did not designate any expert witness nor sought an extension of time to do so. No Blanchard responded to Tarpon's discovery requests within the Scheduling Order deadline. Tarpon had no indication as to what any proffered expert may opine and Tarpon's ability to prepare its case was severely prejudiced. Tarpon had no opportunity to depose or

1081187-2 27

cross-examine any potential expert. Thus, the trial court properly ruled that the Blanchards could not put on any expert testimony at the valuation hearing. RE 2.

"Absent special circumstances the court will not allow testimony at trial of an expert witness who was not designated as an expert witness to all attorneys of record at least sixty days before trial." URCCC 4.04(A); see also Windmon v. Marshall, 926 So. 2d 867, 877 (Miss. 2006) (upholding exclusion of damages and insurance experts, where insureds designated them during continuance granted only to allow insureds to prepare case on liability against tortfeasor, not to further prepare case against uninsured motorist carrier); Crane Co. v. Kitzinger, 860 So. 2d 1196, 1203 (Miss. 2003) (upholding exclusion of testimony, where witness was not designated as expert and questions were not fact questions); Griffin v. McKenney, 877 So. 2d 425, 438, 441 (Miss. 2003) (holding that trial court erred by allowing expert testimony from witness whose expert designation had been withdrawn); Varner v. Patrick, 523 So. 2d 319, 320 (Miss. 1988) (upholding exclusion of testimony and written appraisal by plaintiff's appraiser, where plaintiff failed to respond until one day before trial to defendant's expert disclosure interrogatory and request for production of documents including appraisals); Harris v. Gen. Host Corp., 503 So. 2d 795, 796-98 (Miss. 1986) (holding that by filing witness and expert interrogatories, plaintiff acquired procedural right that defendant disclose expert within reasonable time after reasonably ascertaining probability that expert would be called, and sufficiently in advance of trial to allow plaintiff to prepare to meet and cross-examine evidence to be offered by expert, and reversing trial court's allowance of testimony by undisclosed expert); Boyd v. Lynch, 493 So. 2d 1315, 1320 (Miss. 1986) (upholding exclusion of expert disclosed the Friday before trial beginning the following Monday).

The Blanchards' sole argument for their failure to cooperate in discovery was their counsel's health issues. But that alone is not good cause in this case. The Blanchards' counsel

28

disclosed his health issues on the eve of the first trial setting in December 2009. On that basis, the trial court granted an extension to allow the Blanchards time to comply with discovery and prepare for trial. R. 408. Having been granted that reprieve, however, the Blanchards and their counsel did nothing in the following nine months to satisfy their discovery obligations and comply with the trial court's orders. If counsel's health made him unable to fulfill his discovery obligations and made him unable to properly prepare for trial, he should have terminated his representation and obtained new counsel for the Blanchards.<sup>4</sup> There was ample time to do so within the deadlines of the Scheduling Order and before the August 2010 trial setting. But he did not.

Finally, a review of the Blanchards' proffer [Tr. 279-283] demonstrates it would have been error to allow the Blanchards to introduce their speculative testimony. The Blanchards proffered the value of "25 acres and four homes and everything they have" is \$150,000 for the surface. Tr. 283. They further proffered the "underground structure" beneath their property was worth \$500,000 before the taking and \$150,000 after the taking. *Id.* That proffered testimony is pure speculation with no foundation. The proffer contains no representation that the Blanchards hired or relied on any qualified real estate appraiser to establish these outrageous valuations. Further, the Blanchards admitted they have no expertise in valuing subsurface rights Tr. 281. Therefore, no foundation existed for the Blanchards to offer any opinion as to the value of the easement taken.

Rule 1.16 of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct states in pertinent part: "... a lawyer ... shall withdraw from the representation of a client if: ... (2) the lawyer's physical or mental condition materially impairs the lawyer's ability to represent the client...." M.R.P.C. 1.16(a). Further, under 1.16(d), "[u]pon termination of representation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent reasonably practicable to protect a client's interest, such as giving reasonable notice to the client, allowing time for employment of other counsel, surrendering papers and property to which the client is entitled and refunding any advance payment that has not been earned."

Although this Court has held that expert training is not required for a lay witness to testify as to value of land, the lay witness must have a particular knowledge relating to the value before the testimony is allowed. See *Board of Levee Com'rs v. Nelms*, 82 Miss. 416, 34 So. 149 (Miss. 1903); *Mississippi State Highway Commission v. Ladner*, 243 Miss. 278, 137 So. 2d 781 (Miss. 1962); *Mississippi State Highway Commission v. Hillman*, 189 Miss. 850, 198 So. 565 (Miss. 1940). For example, a lay witness can offer opinion testimony as to the value of his lands if he has knowledge of land values in the area. *Ladner*, 243 Miss. at 284. For purposes of this case, the Blanchards would have to show knowledge of the value of the right to store gas in the depleted reservoir in order to testify as to the value of the gas storage rights under their lands. Without that type of knowledge, their testimony was properly excluded notwithstanding their abuse of discovery. *Id*.

Moreover, Blanchards' counsel admitted that settlement offers made by Tarpon to the Blanchards "did affect the value they attached to these subsurface rights." Tr. 280. As found by the trial court in its Order excluding the Statement of Values filed by eight of the Blanchards, RE 1, 624, the offer of settlement in no way related to the fair market value of the gas storage rights at issue. The offer of settlement was a separate and additional agreement proposed by Tarpon, with no consideration in the proposed offer being given for storing gas. The Blanchard family heirs would have been required to execute separate gas storage agreements that would have provided for the injection, storage and withdrawal of natural gas below their lands, and for the execution of the gas storage agreement, those Blanchard family heirs would have been paid on a per acre basis. Additionally, the offer of settlement was contingent on numerous conditions being met. When those conditions were not met, the offer was rescinded by Tarpon in June 2008. RE 1, 624.

Any such offer made by Tarpon to the Blanchards was inadmissible to establish fair market value of gas storage rights. See State Highway Commission of Mississippi v. Warren,, 530 So. 2d 704 (Miss. 1988) (citing Mississippi State Highway Commission v. Robertson, 350 So. 2d 1348, 1350 (Miss. 1977). When statements are intended to be part of negotiations toward compromise, they are inadmissible under Rule 408. Ramada Dev. Co. v. Rauch, 644 F.2d 1097 (5th Cir. 1981) (interpreting F.R.E. 408 which is virtually identical to M.R.C.P. 408). More importantly, as outlined above, the proposed offer of settlement had nothing to do with the fair market value of an easement to store gas below the Blanchards' land.

The Blanchards' disregard of discovery throughout this entire eminent domain action, their failure to disclose witnesses, experts, documents, and any other evidence in response to Tarpon's interrogatories and requests for production, their disregard for the trial court's Orders compelling discovery and the Scheduling Order, and their reliance on settlement offers instead of relevant fair market data, were all proper grounds, individually and collectively, for the trial court to preclude them from introducing undisclosed evidence at trial and to exclude their speculative statements of value. "Our trial judges also have a right to expect compliance with their orders, and when parties and/or attorneys fail to adhere to the provisions of these orders, they should be prepared to do so at their own peril." *Bowie v. Montfort Jones Mem'l Hosp.*, 861 So. 2d 1037, 1042 (Miss. 2003). The trial court's ruling on these points was proper.

V. <u>Appellants' Issue No. 4:</u> The trial court properly allowed Tarpon to amend its pleadings in order to take a *lesser* property interest than otherwise allowed under the Natural Gas Act.

Inexplicably, the Blanchards complain the trial court erred by allowing Tarpon to amend its pleadings so as to condemn and take a *lesser interest* in the Blanchards' property than Tarpon was authorized to condemn and take under the Natural Gas Act. Appellant's Brief, p. 12-13. It is not readily apparent how such an amendment could have possibly prejudiced the Blanchards.

The Blanchards' counsel never asserted prejudice at trial. It is well settled that an amendment must cause "actual prejudice to the other party" in order to be refused. *Beverly v. Powers*, 666 So.2d 806, 809 (Miss. 1995). The grant or denial of a motion for leave to amend is within the sound discretion of the trial court. *MBF Corp. v. Century Business Communications, Inc.*, 663 So. 2d 595 (Miss. 1995). *See also, Simmons v. Thompson Machinery of Mississippi, Inc.*, 631 So. 2d 798, 800 (Miss. 1994) (Motions for leave to amend are left to court's discretion. Leave to amend should be granted unless it would cause actual prejudice to opposite party.); *Rector v. Mississippi State Highway Comm'n*, 623 So. 2d 975, 978 (Miss. 1993) (where there is no hint of prejudice in record nor did affected party assert prejudice when other party amended answer, court does not abuse discretion in granting leave to amend.)

Likewise, the Blanchards offer no explanation or assertion of prejudice, nor supporting authority, such that this issue should also be deemed abandoned. *See City of Jackson v. Harris*, 44 So. 3d 927, 935 (Miss. 2010); *McNeil v. Hester*, 753 So. 2d 1057, 1075 (Miss. 2000); Miss R. App. P. 28(a)(6).

Should the Court consider this issue, recall that Tarpon's eminent domain authority under the Natural Gas Act encompasses all property rights necessary for operation of a certificated gas storage facility. See p. 14-15 above. Thus in its Complaint, Tarpon defined the "Gas Storage Rights" to be condemned as "the right to inject, store, maintain, and withdraw natural gas from the Storage Interval in the Field, as approved by the Board and the FERC, with the incidental right of surface and sub-surface ingress, use, and egress as reasonably necessary to construct, operate, and maintain the Project." R. 21.

At trial, however, Tarpon stipulated it would not use *any* part of the Blanchards' surface. Tr. 219-220. Thus Tarpon had no need to condemn the "incidental right of surface ingress, use and egress" in the Blanchards' property. Rule 15 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure

1081187-2 32

allows amendment of pleadings when justice requires and when necessary to conform to the evidence. The *undisputed* evidence was that Tarpon had not, and would not, use any part of the Blanchards' surface property. Accordingly, the trial court properly allowed Tarpon to stipulate and amend the pleadings such that the rights it would take by condemnation in the Blanchards' property would *exclude* the incidental right of surface ingress, use or egress. Tr. 221.

# VI. <u>Appellants' Issue No. 8:</u> The trial court properly denied the Blanchards' motion for a jury view of the property.

The Blanchards assert the trial court erred by denying their request for an inspection of the premises. Appellants' Brief, p. 18. However, the Blanchards' counsel did *not* request or move the trial court to allow the jury to inspect the premises. Apparently counsel mentioned something about an inspection of the premises when he approached the Judge's bench. Tr. 162. The Judge then questioned Blanchards' counsel on the record: "what was it you said, an inspection of the premises?" Tr. 162. To this question asked by the Judge, Blanchards' counsel replied "I don't know - - I haven't discussed with these gentlemen how they feel about it, but I haven't made a decision what my recommendation would be about it." Tr. 162. Having made no proper motion or objection, the Blanchards' counsel did not preserve this issue for appeal. *CIG Contractors, Inc. v. Mississippi State Bldg. Comm'n*, 510 So. 2d 510, 514 (Miss. 1987) (party may not present theory on appeal which was not presented at trial level).

Nevertheless, even if these obscure statements by the Blanchards' counsel constituted a motion, the trial judge correctly denied it. There are two statutes that address a jury view of land. Miss. Code Ann. 11-27-19 provides that "the jury may, in the sound discretion of the judge, go the premises . . " (emphasis added). Miss. Code Ann. §13-5-91 provides that "[w]hen, in the opinion of the court, on the trial of any cause, civil or criminal, it is proper, in order to reach the ends of justice, for the court and jury to have a view or inspection of the property which is the subject of litigation . . . the court may, at its discretion, enter an order providing for

33

such a view or inspection . . ." (emphasis added). As these statutes point out, when a view of the premises is necessary to "reach the ends of justice," the trial judge, in his "sole discretion" may allow for a jury view of the property. In this case no view of the premises was necessary because (1) the easement at issue could not, in fact, be viewed because it was 3,400 feet below the surface of the earth and (2) there was no conflicting evidence as to value of that easement.

The Blanchards' reliance on *Redevelopment Authority of the City of Meridian v.*Holsomback, 291 So. 2d 712 (Miss. 1974) is misplaced because that case dealt with an actual taking of surface property. Even in such a typical eminent domain taking, a view of the premises would only prove helpful if there was a conflict in evidence relating to the value of the property.

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